A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Robert Harrison, the appellant below, asks this 

Court to review his case. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Mr. Harrison requests review of the Court of 

Appeals decision in State v. Harrison, COA No. 83638-2-

1, filed January 16, 2024, and the Court of Appeals order 

denying his Motion For Reconsideration filed March 26, 

2024. The decision and order are attached to this petition 

as appendices A and B, respectively. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Whether review is appropriate under RAP 

13.4(b )( 1) because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts 

with State v. Derri, 199 Wn.2d 658, 511 P.3d 1267 (2022)? 

2. Whether the Court of Appeals' failure to follow 

Derri tainted its harmless error analysis on every claim for 

which it agreed there had been trial error? 

3. Whether review is also appropriate under RAP 
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13.4(b )( 1 )-(2) because the Court of Appeals' decision that 

defense counsel "likely " and tactically "chose not to object" 

when the prosecutor misstated significant defense 

evidence (thereby immunizing defense counsel against any 

Sixth Amendment challenge) conflicts with the record and 

with prior decisions from this Court and the Court of 

Appeals? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Charges 

The King County Prosecutor's Office charged 

Robert Harrison with two counts of Robbery in the First 

Degree, each including a firearm sentencing 

enhancement, and one count of Unlawful Possession of a 

Firearm in the First Degree. CP 206-207. 

For the robbery charges in counts 1 and 2, the State 

alleged that on January 6, 2020, Mr. Harrison, while 

displaying a handgun, committed theft of personal 

property belonging to Joseph Moningka and Dinasetia 
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Sangkay as the two walked to dinner in Seattle's 

University District. CP 3, 206-207. Count 3 was based 

on Mr. Harrison's prior conviction for a serious offense, 

which prohibited him from possessing a firearm. CP 207. 

Mr. Harrison denied the charges, maintaining he 

had been misidentified as the robber. CP 177, 181. 

2. Trial Evidence 

Mr. Harrison's opening brief in the Court of Appeals 

contains a more thorough discussion of the trial evidence. 

See Appellant's Opening Brief ("AOB"), at 24-35. 

In summary, on the evening of January 6, 2020, Mr. 

Moningka and Ms. Sangkay parked their Honda Accord in 

Seattle's University District. As they walked toward a 

restaurant, a man robbed them at gunpoint, taking their 

cell phones and car keys. RP 467-4 75, 499-506. 

Once the robber had the phones and car keys, he 

turned and ran back towards the Honda Accord. RP 4 76, 

508-509. At the same time, Mr. Moningka and Ms. 
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Sangkay headed in the opposite direction and eventually 

borrowed someone's phone to call 911. RP 476-477, 509, 

511-513; exhibits 9-10. From a distance, and while 

speaking to a 911 operator, Mr. Moningka could see that 

the robber had entered the Accord from the driver's door. 

RP 510, 528. After a few minutes, Mr. Moningka saw the 

robber exit the Accord and head east (farther away from 

the couple), where he lost sight of the robber. RP 510, 

515-516, 528-529, 536-537. About a minute later, Mr. 

Moningka saw someone (whom he believed to be the 

same man that had robbed them) return to the Accord and 

get inside. RP 528. 

By the time police arrived, Robert Harrison was 

standing by the open driver's side door of the Accord. RP 

549-550, 555-556. He made eye contact with a female 

officer, Officer Samantha Morris, nodded at her and she 

nodded back. RP 549-550, 555-556, 836. Harrison then 

closed the car door and headed down the street on foot. 
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RP 550-551. Officers arrested him shortly thereafter. RP 

646-647. 

Police searched Mr. Harrison for a firearm but found 

none. RP 647. Officers found Mr. Moningka's and Ms. 

Sangkay's cell phones in Harrison's pants pockets and an 

empty gun holster attached to his belt. RP 484, 532-533, 

588-590, 593-594, 727-728. Inside Mr. Moningka's car, 

officers found a loaded .9 mm pistol on the front passenger 

floorboard and the keys to the car nearby. RP 611-615, 

633. Later testing of the firearm revealed it was operable, 

but no latent prints were recovered from its surface. RP 

634, 736-737. 

While Mr. Harrison was still at the arrest scene, 

police drove Mr. Moningka to that location and had him 

identify Mr. Harrison as the robber. RP 516-520. During 

trial, prosecutors also had Mr. Moningka identify Harrison 

as the robber. RP 520. 

Mr. Harrison steadfastly denied he was the robber. 
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RP 823, 839, 842. He testified that, on the evening of 

January 6, he was in the University District walking to a 

friend's house, where he intended to stay the night and 

replenish his drug supply. RP 830-831, 854. As he 

walked, he noticed the victims' Honda Accord because its 

lights were on and someone was in the driver's seat. RP 

832. The individual then exited the car and walked away 

from it, leaving the driver's door wide open. RP 832. Mr. 

Harrison watched and, when the driver failed to return, 

decided to find out if there was anything of value inside the 

car. RP 833. 

Mr. Harrison got into the driver's seat and found two 

cell phones and a gun in a holster. RP 834. Intending to 

trade the items for drugs, Mr. Harrison put the phones in 

his pockets. RP 834, 839. When he reached for the 

holster, the gun slipped out. He tied the empty holster 

around his waist and reached to pick up the gun but was 

distracted from doing so by approaching car lights. RP 
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834-835. 

Fearing he was about to be caught, Mr. Harrison 

exited the car, leaving behind the gun, which he never 

touched. RP 835. It was then that he saw Officer Morris 

and exchanged nods with her before walking away and 

then running. RP 549-551, 555-556, 836, 840. Shortly 

thereafter, another officer stopped him, cuffed him, and 

found the phones in his pockets and the empty holster. RP 

835-838. He was then taken to jail. RP 841. 

The primary disputed trial issue was identify. RP 888-

897, 905-907, 912-920. The defense argued that someone 

else had robbed Mr. Moningka and Ms. Sangkay, entered 

their car, but then walked away, leaving their cell phones 

and his holstered gun behind. Mr. Harrison then seized an 

opportunity for theft. But he was merely a thief, not an 

armed robber, supported by the fact his fingerprints were 

not found on the gun. RP 904-905, 920-922. 

Jurors convicted Mr. Harrison on the robbery 
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charges in counts 1 and 2 and found the firearm 

sentencing enhancement proved for each count. CP 256-

257, 259-260. They also convicted him in count 3 of 

Unlawful Possession of a Firearm. CP 258. 

3. Court of Appeals 

Mr. Harrison raised several issues on appeal. 

Among them, he challenged the trial court's admission of 

Mr. Moningka's identification of him as the robber at the 

scene of his arrest and again at trial. He argued the on­

scene show-up procedure violated due process because it 

was impermissibly suggestive, created a substantial 

likelihood of irreparable misidentification, and necessarily 

tainted the subsequent in-court identification. See AOB, at 

36-52; Reply Brief of Appellant ("RBF"), at 1-22. 

He raised prosecutorial misconduct based on the trial 

deputy's use of an improper generic tailoring argument 

during closing arguments. See AOB, at 52-68; RBF, at 22-

28. 
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He raised additional prosecutorial misconduct based 

on the trial deputy's misstatement of critical evidence 

during closing arguments and - in a related claim -

ineffective assistance of counsel for his attorney's failure to 

do anything about it. See AOB, at 68-77; RBF, at 28-33. 

He also argued cumulative error - that the combined 

impact of these errors denied him a fair trial. See AOB, at 

93-94; RBF, at 39-42. 

The Court of Appeals agreed there had been several 

serious errors. 

Regarding the challenged identifications, the Court of 

Appeals found the procedures used at the show-up 

identification were impermissibly suggestive but concluded 

there was not a substantial likelihood of irreparable 

misidentification under the Biggers 1 factors. Thus, the on­

scene identification was properly admitted at trial. Slip Op., 

at 7. But the Court agreed police had tainted the in-court 
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identification, which should not have occurred. Slip Op., at 

9-10. 

Regarding prosecutorial misconduct, the Court 

agreed the trial prosecutor violated Harrison's constitutional 

rights to appear and testify at trial under article 1, sec. 22 of 

the Washington Constitution by making a generic tailoring 

argument and agreed the prosecutor misstated the 

evidence to the State's advantage during closing 

arguments. Slip Op., at 12-13, 18. 

But the Court of Appeals found every violation of Mr. 

Harrison's rights harmless based on two circumstances. 

See Slip Op., at 7-29. The first circumstance was its finding 

that Mr. Moningka's show-up identification was properly 

admitted. The second circumstance was that Officer 

Samantha Morris had identified Mr. Harrison as the man 

standing by the driver's door of the victims' car by the time 

she arrived on scene. See Slip Op., at 11-12, 17, 21, 29. 

1 Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188, 93 S. Ct. 375, 34 L. 
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Mr. Harrison filed a Motion For Reconsideration. 

Regarding the show-up identification, he pointed out 

that the Court of Appeals had failed to apply the 

Washington Supreme Court's then-recent opinion in State 

v. Derri, 199 Wn.2d 658, 511 P.3d 1267 (2022), when 

finding there was not a substantial likelihood of irreparable 

misidentification under the Biggers factors. He argued the 

Court of Appeals' failure to assess those factors under 

Derri's updated and modified approach skewed the results 

in the State's favor. Motion, at 3-7. 

Regarding the prosecutor's misstatement of 

important evidence, Mr. Harrison challenged the Court of 

Appeals' finding that his attorney's failure to object or 

otherwise correct the record could somehow be deemed a 

"legitimate tactic," thereby precluding relief. Motion, at 10-

14. 

Finally, Mr. Harrison took issue with the Court of 

Ed. 2d 401 (1972). 
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Appeals harmless error analysis. Regarding its reliance on 

the show-up identification, he again pointed out the 

identification should not have been admitted under Derri's 

revised approach. Motion, at 8, 10, 14-15. And, regarding 

the Court of Appeals' reliance on Officer Samantha Morris, 

he noted the obvious problem: 

while it is correct to say, "Officer Morris also 
identified Harrison at trial," context is critical 
here. Officer Morris did not witness - nor did 
she claim to witness - the robber approaching 
the victims, pulling a gun, taking the victims' 
property, or even walking toward and entering 
their car. Nor did she claim to see, as 
Moningka did, the robber exit the Honda, head 
toward the Foege Building, and walk out of the 
victims' line of sight for about a minute. See 
RP 502-516, 528-529, 536-537 (Moningka's 
trial testimony). 

Officer Morris did not even arrive on scene 
until after Harrison subsequently approached 
the Honda and entered. See RP 546-550, 555-
556. Everyone agrees this was Harrison. But 
Officer Morris did not and could not identify 
Harrison as the man who had just robbed the 
victims that night. Nor was she even asked to 
make such an identification. Thus, her in-court 
identification of Harrison [as the man later seen 
standing by the car] does not diminish, much 
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less overcome, the prejudice from [the trial 
error]. 

Motio11, at 8-9; see also id., at 10, 14-15 (noting the Court's 

reliance on Officer Morris tainted its harmless error analysis 

for each trial error). 

After calling for and receiving a response from the 

State, the Court of Appeals denied the Motion for 

Reconsideration without explanation or modification of its 

opinion. See Appendix B. 

Mr. Harrison now seeks this Court's review. 

E. ARGUMENT 

1. THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION 
CONFLICTS WITH DERRI 

Although this Court decided Derri after Mr. Harrison 

was convicted and sentenced, both sides addressed the 

decision on appeal. See Brief of Respondent, at 18, 20, 

24-25, 28; Reply Brief of Appellant, at 2-3, 10-11, 13, 19. 

And while the Court of Appeals cited Derri in its 

opinion, it failed to actually heed Derri's directive to now 
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"consider widely accepted scientific data on the fallibility of 

eyewitness identification procedures" and "apply relevant, 

widely accepted modern science on eyewitness 

identification at each step of the test." Derri, 199 Wn.2d at 

675. 

As discussed above, the Court of Appeals properly 

concluded that Mr. Moningka's show-up identification was 

impermissibly suggestive. Slip Op., at 7. However, after 

assessing the Biggers factors, it concluded there was not a 

substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification. Id. at 

6-9. Under Derri, however, this latter conclusion was not 

properly analyzed or decided. 

Regarding Biggers factor 2 (witness' degree of 

attention), the Court of Appeals noted that although Dr. 

Jeffrey Loftus - a defense expert on false identifications -

testified at trial that "weapon focus" diverts the victim's 

attention from other details of the assailant, this evidence 

was not introduced or considered by the judge at the CrR 
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3.6 hearing. Slip Op., at 9 n.5. But Derri now establishes 

this is a widely accepted scientific principle courts must 

consider. See Derri, 199 Wn.2d at 687 n.24 ("Research 

shows . . .  the fear instilled by the weapon directs attention 

to the weapon rather than the perpetrator. "). 

The robber pointed his gun at Mr. Moningka in close 

proximity (Moningka's best opportunity to observe). RP 

4 7 4-4 75, 502, 504. Mr. Moningka even admitted at the 

CrR 3.6 hearing his focus was on the gun when the robber 

was near. RP 538. And while the Court of Appeals 

acknowledged that Moningka focused on the gun during 

the robbery, Slip Op., at 8, without employing Derri's 

established science on this subject, the Court erred when it 

nonetheless found Moningka's "focus on Harrison . . . 

during . . .  the robbery supports his attention being good." 

Slip Op., at 9 (emphasis added). 

Regarding Biggers factor 3 (accuracy of the witness's 

prior description of the criminal), as the State 
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acknowledged in its Brief of Respondent, under Derri, 

"consistent descriptions do not correlate strongly with 

reliability." SOR, at 24 (citing Derri, 199 Wn.2d at 688). In 

Derri, even the "reasonably detailed description of the 

robber, " provided by three separate witnesses, received 

"limited weight." Derri, 199 Wn.2d at 687-688. Yet, in 

finding there was not a substantial likelihood of irreparable 

misidentification in Harrison's case, the Court of Appeals 

cited with approval the trial judge's finding that Moningka's 

general description of Harrison was "accurate." Slip Op., at 

9. 

The Court of Appeals also failed to apply Derri to 

Biggers factor 4 (witness' level of certainty). After noting 

"the parties agree that the trial court properly found that 

Moningka's level of certainty was good, " the Court said 

nothing more about this factor. See Slip Op., at 7. Mr. 

Moningka's level of certainty was good, but Derri now 

makes clear that, where police have used suggestive 
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procedures (which the Court of Appeals agreed police used 

in Mr. Harrison's case) high levels of certainty no longer 

correlate with accuracy of description. Deri, 199 Wn.2d at 

688. Under Derri, the Court of Appeals erred in treating 

this factor as if it favored reliability of Mr. Moningka's show­

up identification. 

Unlike Division One, Divisions Two and Three 

recognize that Derri applies to cases currently on appeal 

even where the opinion was not yet available to the trial 

court. See State v. Giancoli, 28 Wn. App. 2d 1045, 2023 

WL 7156773, at *6-*7 (2023) ("Although we may decline to 

consider new issues raised for the first time on appeal, the 

same is not true for new authority''; Division Two applies 

Derri's established scientific principles); State v. Casares, 

27 Wn. App. 2d 1003, at *5-*8 (2023) ("the scientific 

evidence considered in Derri not only changed the factors 

to consider but also the weight assigned to various factors"; 
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Division Three reviews trial court's Biggers findings under 

Derri), review denied, 2 Wn.3d 1014, 540 P.3d 779 (2024).2 

Ultimately, Division One's failure in Harrison's case to 

assess the Biggers factors using Derri's established 

science and its weighting of particular factors skewed that 

Court's analysis in favor of finding reliability and affirming 

admission of Mr. Moningka's show-up identification of 

Harrison as the robber. It also necessarily skewed the 

Court's harmless error analysis on every issue where the 

Court agreed there was error (i.e., the in-court 

identification, the prosecutor's use of generic tailoring, and 

the prosecutor's misstatement of the evidence) because 

the Court of Appeals repeatedly relied on the show-up 

identification to deem these errors harmless ( along with its 

misplaced reliance on the fact Officer Samantha Morris 

saw Mr. Harrison after the robbery). 

2 Harrison cites these unpublished opinions under GR 
14.1 (a) for whatever persuasive value this Court deems 
appropriate. 
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Because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with 

this Court's decision in Derri, review is appropriate under 

RAP 13.4(b )( 1 ). 

2. THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION ON 
DEFENSE COUNSEL'S "TACTICAL 
SILENCE" CONFLICTS WITH PRIOR 
DECISIONS OF THIS COURT AND THE 
COURT OF APPEALS. 

Every criminal defendant is guaranteed the right to 

the effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth 

Amendment and art. I, section 22 of the Washington 

Constitution. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 

685-86, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed.2d 674 (1984); State v. 

Thomas, 109 Wn.2d 222, 229, 743 P.2d 816 (1987). 

Failing to object constitutes ineffective assistance 

where (1) the failure was not a legitimate strategic 

decision; (2) an objection would likely have been 

sustained; and (3) there is a reasonable probability the 

jury verdict would have differed with a proper objection. 

In re Personal Restraint of Davis, 152 Wn.2d 647, 714, 
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101 P.3d 1 (2004); In re Fleming, 142 Wn.2d 853, 866, 16 

P.3d 610 (2001 ); State v. Saunders, 9 1  Wn. App. 575, 

578, 958 P.2d 364 (1998). 

Mr. Harrison's trial defense was that he was not the 

robber but merely a thief who took advantage of the 

situation by stealing items from the victims' Honda after the 

robber fled. RP 832-834 .. Mr. Harrison testified that he 

came upon the car while walking to a friend's home, where 

he was going to replenish his supply of drugs to use and 

sell. RP 830-831. His intent when entering the Honda was 

to find, take, and trade items of value for drugs, thereby 

spending less of his own money. RP 839. Consistent with 

this defense, Mr. Harrison testified he was carrying cash in 

his wallet when stopped and arrested. RP 856. 

Attempting to undermine Mr. Harrison's trial defense, 

during closing arguments the prosecutor asserted, "his 

version of events is patently unreasonable. Mr. Harrison 

testified he was on his way to a friend's house to buy some 
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more drugs. Yet he had no cash on him when 

apprehended by officers . . . .  " RP 894 (emphasis added). 

The Court of Appeals agreed the prosecutor 

misstated the evidence. Slip Op., at 17-18. The Court also 

found that, had defense counsel objected, the trial court 

could have repaired the damage by telling jurors to 

disregard it or reminding jurors the prosecutor's argument 

was not the evidence. Slip Op., at 19. However, the Court 

declined to find deficient performance: 

Deciding whether to object is a "classic 
example[ ] of trial tactics. " State v. Crow, 8 
Wn. App. 2d 480, 509, 438 P.3d 541 (2019). 
Furthermore, our Supreme Court ha[s] 
recognized that "[l]awyers do not commonly 
object during closing argument 'absent 
egregious misstatements, "' and thus "[a] 
decision not to object during summation is 
within the wide range of permissible legal 
conduct. " In re Pers. Restraint of Davis, 152 
Wn.2d 647, 717, 101 P.3d 1 (2004) (quoting 
United States v. Neocoechea, 986 F.2d 1273, 
1281 (9th Cir. 1993)). Here, it is likely that 
Harrison's counsel chose not to object to the 
misstatement rather than to highlight to the 
jury that Harrison's testimony was internally 
inconsistent. 
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Slip Op., at 20-21. 

The Court of Appeals' analysis is flawed and 

conflicts with other decisions from this Court and Division 

Three. 

As Division Three recently discussed, the general 

presumption of tactical silence is overcome when the 

evidence commented upon "is significant to the State's 

case . . . .  " State v. Stotts, 26 Wn. App. 2d 154, 166, 527 

P.3d 842 (2023) (citing State v. Vasquez, 198 Wn.2d 239, 

248, 494 P.3d 424 (2021 )).3 "Absent an obvious trial 

strategy under these circumstances, when a defendant 

demonstrates that objections would have been sustained, 

then the defendant meets the burden of showing that 

counsel's performance was deficient." Id. 

3 While Vasquez and Stotts involved prosecutors 
referencing inadmissible evidence, counsel's silence is 
equally indefensible when prosecutors misstate extremely 
important evidence. 
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The State targeted the issue of cash because the 

trial prosecutor recognized its significance in convincing 

jurors Harrison's defense was "patently unreasonable." 

See RP 894. And, as the Court of Appeals acknowledged, 

a timely defense objection would have been sustained 

and the misconduct cured. Slip Op., at 19. Thus, under 

Stotts and Vasquez, Mr. Harrison met his burden to show 

deficient performance. 

The Court of Appeals also erred in its analysis found 

in the last line of the paragraph quoted above: "Here, it is 

likely that Harrison's counsel chose not to object to the 

misstatement rather than to highlight to the jury that 

Harrison's testimony was internally inconsistent." 

Harrison's testimony was not internally inconsistent. He 

quite clearly testified that, while officers did not find cash 

during their initial search of his person at the scene, he had 

cash in his wallet, reflected by the police department's 

booking property report. RP 855-856. Had there been an 
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actual inconsistency, the Court of Appeals would not have 

agreed that the prosecutor misstated the evidence on this 

point. See Slip Op. , at 18-19. 

No reasonably competent defense lawyer - as a 

matter of tactics - would choose to do nothing to correct 

the record (including during the subsequent defense 

closing argument) and simply allow the prosecutor to 

expressly misstate the evidence on this important point. 

The only thing a defense objection would have highlighted 

is the very helpful circumstance that Harrison testified he 

was carrying cash to buy drugs. 

Because the Court of Appeals decision on tactical 

silence conflicts with decisions from this Court and Division 

Three, review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2). 

And because there was no legitimate tactical decision, 

defense counsel was ineffective. 
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F. CONCLUSION 

Mr. Harrison respectfully asks this Court to grant his 

petition and reverse his convictions. 

I certify that this petition contains 3,662 words 
excluding those portions exempt under RAP 1 8. 1 7.