FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/15/2024 9:30 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 103001-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ROBERT HARRISON,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

LEESA MANION (she/her) King County Prosecuting Attorney

GAVRIEL JACOBS Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

C. ARGUMENT

RAP 13.4(b) governs this Court's review of Harrison's petition. Accordingly, review is appropriate only under the following circumstances:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of appeals; or

- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). Harrison relies primarily on RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2). Brief of Pet. at 1, 13, 19.

1. THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH DERRI.

Admission of an identification obtained through a suggestive procedure does not violate due process if it possesses "sufficient aspects of reliability." <u>Derri</u>, 199 Wn.2d at 674. Reliability is generally assessed using five factors: "(1) the opportunity of the witness to view the criminal at the time of the crime, (2) the witness' degree of attention, (3) the accuracy of the witness' prior description of the criminal, (4) the level of certainty demonstrated at the procedure, and (5) the time between the crime and the identification procedure." <u>Id.</u> at 674-75 (citing <u>Neil v. Biggers</u>, 409 U.S. 188, 93 S. Ct. 375, 34 L. Ed. 2d 401 (1972)).

<u>Derri</u> supplemented the <u>Biggers</u> analysis by asking courts to consider "widely accepted modern science on eyewitness identification." 199 Wn.2d at 675. The trial court's CrR 3.6 ruling in this case occurred before <u>Derri</u> was published.

However, the State acknowledged below that "[a] new rule of criminal procedure applies to all cases pending on direct review at the time the rule is announced." <u>State v. Wences</u>, 189 Wn.2d 675, 684, 406 P.3d 267 (2017); Brief of Respondent at 28, n.6.

Harrison argues the Court of Appeals failed to follow

Derri because it did not incorporate the "widely accepted scientific principle" of "weapon focus" into its analysis of the second Biggers factor. Brief of Pet. at 14-15. But the Court of Appeals did apply the concept of "weapon focus":

There is no doubt that Moningka was focused on the weapon pointed at him while the robbery was occurring. But to the extent his attention to Harrison's identity might have been reduced by the stress of being held at gunpoint, Moningka continued to observe

¹ "Weapon focus" is a psychological theory holding that "if there is a weapon…people…will tend to pay attention to the weapon" at the expense of other details. RP 773.

Harrison after the robbery as he moved inside the car and came back from the Foege building. There is no evidence that Moningka's attention was diminished during his later observations.

State v. Harrison, No. 83638-2 at 8-9.

To the extent the Court of Appeals was required to consider "weapon focus," it did so in this case. <u>Id.</u> The panel simply found Moningka's identification reliable regardless of whether "weapon focus" occurred because his observation of Harrison continued *after* the weapon was withdrawn. This factual conclusion does not conflict with <u>Derri</u>'s directive to consider scientific principles.

Harrison next claims the Court of Appeals
inappropriately analyzed the third <u>Biggers</u> factor when it cited
the trial judge's observation of accuracy "with approval"
because, under <u>Derri</u>, "[t]his consistency factor should...receive
limited weight." 199 Wn.2d at 688; Brief of Pet. at 16. But
"limited weight" is not the same as "no weight." Nothing in
<u>Derri</u> suggests consideration of this factor was wholly

improper, and the Court of Appeals' analysis did not place undue emphasis upon it. <u>Harrison</u>, No. 83638-2 at 9. Rather, it simply found that the trial court's finding was supported by substantial evidence. Id. This does not conflict with Derri.

Harrison next suggests that the Court of Appeals erred by considering the fourth <u>Biggers</u> factor. Brief of Pet. at 16-17.

<u>Derri</u> was indeed skeptical of this factor's value, holding that high levels of certainty "should be given less weight...where it has already been determined that the procedure employed was suggestive." 199 Wn.2d at 688-89. But nothing in the Court of Appeals' opinion suggests it assigned significant weight to Moningka's certainty; it simply noted that the confidence of his identification was not in dispute. <u>Harrison</u>, No. 83638-2 at 7.

This passing treatment does not present any conflict with <u>Derri</u>.

Harrison also claims that Division One has not acknowledged that Derri applies to cases on direct appeal, even

² The State's briefing acknowledged <u>Derri</u>'s skepticism of this factor. Brief of Respondent at 24-25.

if the opinion was not available to the trial court. Brief of Pet. at 17. It is well established in Washington that new criminal rules apply to cases still on direct review when the rule is announced. Wences, 189 Wn.2d at 681. The decision below never suggested that Derri did not apply, and in fact cited it extensively. Harrison, No. 83638-2 at 6-9. The State is unaware of any other Division One opinion that contravenes the rule described in Wences. This attempt at manufacturing a conflict does not warrant review.

Finally, Harrison claims the Court of Appeals' harmless error analysis improperly relied on Officer Morris's identification from "after the robbery." Brief of Pet. at 18 (emphasis original). But as the State explained below, Officer Morris's identification was significant because Moningka stated that the robber ran to his car, briefly went out of view, and then the same person returned to his car before fleeing when police arrived. RP 510, 528, 927; Ex. 9 at 1:25-3:45; Ex. 10. Officer

Morris's identification of Harrison at the car thus strongly supported a finding that he committed the robbery.

Harrison has failed to show any conflict between the decision below and Derri, *supra*. Review is not warranted.

2. THE COURT OF APPEALS CORRECTLY APPLIED ESTABLISHED PRECEDENT WHEN CONSIDERING HARRISON'S INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE CLAIM.

The Court of Appeals found the prosecutor "misstated Harrison's testimony" during summation by arguing he did not have money on his person.³ Harrison, No. 83638-2 at 18. However, it also concluded that any error was waived by Harrison's failure to object. <u>Id.</u> at 19.

Harrison separately asserted that defense counsel was ineffective for declining to object to the alleged misstatement.

The court rejected this argument, finding that defense counsel

³ For the reasons stated in the Brief of Respondent, the State maintains that no error occurred because the prosecutor was simply arguing the most favorable interpretation of the evidence. <u>Matter of Phelps</u>, 190 Wn.2d 155, 167, 410 P.3d 1142 (2018).

was not deficient because declining to object during summation is "within the wide range of permissible legal conduct," and because objecting could have "highlight[ed] to the jury that Harrison's testimony was internally inconsistent." Harrison,

No. 83638-2 at 21.

Harrison claims the analysis below conflicts with other Court of Appeals opinions holding that "the general presumption of tactical silence is overcome when the evidence commented upon is significant to the State's case..." Brief of Pet. at 22 (quoting State v. Stotts, 26 Wn. App. 2d 154, 166, 527 P.3d 842 (2023)).

But the opinion below correctly "presume[d] effective representation and require[d] the defendant to show the absence of legitimate strategic or tactical reasons for the challenged conduct." <u>Harrison</u>, 83638-2 at 20 (citing <u>State v. McFarland</u>,

⁴ The court also held that Harrison had not established prejudice given the strength of the State's case. <u>Harrison</u>, No. 83638-2 at 21.

127 Wn.2d 322, 335-36, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995); Stotts, 26 Wn. App. 2d at 165-66. The court discerned a conceivable legitimate tactic – "that Harrison's counsel chose not to object to the misstatement rather than to highlight to the jury that Harrison's testimony was internally inconsistent." Id. at 21.

Harrison initially testified he had no money on his person, but then later stated he had "personal cash." RP 855-56. Harrison could not let the first answer stand because it would contradict his claim that he was on his way to buy drugs. A reasonable attorney might have been concerned that Harrison's revision would seem self-serving and choose not to emphasize it. While Harrison disagrees with the Court of Appeals' factual treatment, its legal analysis correctly applied this Court's precedent. Review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b).

D. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The State respectfully requests this Court deny Harrison's petition for review.

This document contains 1,467 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.

DATED this 15th day of May, 2024.

Respectfully submitted,

LEESA MANION (she/her) King County Prosecuting Attorney

By:

GAVRIEL JACOBS, WSBA #46394

Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Attorneys for Respondent Office WSBA #91002

KING COUNTY PROSECUTOR'S OFFICE - APPELLATE UNIT

May 15, 2024 - 9:30 AM

Transmittal Information

Filed with Court: Supreme Court

Appellate Court Case Number: 103,001-1

Appellate Court Case Title: State of Washington v. Robert Lorne Harrison

The following documents have been uploaded:

• 1030011_Answer_Reply_20240515092945SC022573_3240.pdf

This File Contains:

Answer/Reply - Answer to Petition for Review

The Original File Name was 103001-1 ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW.pdf

A copy of the uploaded files will be sent to:

Sloanej@nwattorney.net

kochd@nwattorney.net

Comments:

Sender Name: Bora Ly - Email: bora.ly@kingcounty.gov

Filing on Behalf of: Gavriel Gershon Jacobs - Email: gavriel.jacobs@kingcounty.gov (Alternate Email:)

Address:

King County Prosecutor's Office - Appellate Unit W554 King County Courthouse, 516 Third Avenue

Seattle, WA, 98104 Phone: (206) 477-9499

Note: The Filing Id is 20240515092945SC022573